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ROSEN, D. J., delivered the opinion of the court, in which
MOORE, J., joined. NELSON, J. (pp. 29-33), delivered a
separate dissenting opinion.

OPINION

ROSEN, District Judge. Petitioners Loral Defense
Systems-Akron (“Loral™) and Aircraft Braking Systems Corp.
(“Aircraft”) petition for review of the Decision and Order of
the National Labor Relations Board (the “NLRB”) finding
that they violated Section 8(a)(5) of the National Labor
Relations Act (the “Act”),19 U.S.C. § 158(a)(5), by
unilaterally changing health care plans covering employees
represented by the UAW. The NLRB cross-petitions for
enforcement of its Order.” For the reasons stated below, we
deny Loral’ sand Aircraft Braking Systems' Petition and grant
the Board' s Cross-Petition for enforcement.

|. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In 1988, Lora and the UAW entered into a collective
bargaining agreement (“CBA”) which took effect on
November 1, 1988. At the time that this first CBA was
negotiated, Aircraft was a division of Loral and as a
consequence, employees of both entities were covered by the

Yn its January 1996 Order, the NLRB determined not only that L oral
and Aircraft had violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) as a result of their
unilateral changes in health care plans but also found that Aircraft was
guilty of separate violations of Section 8(a)(5) and (1) arising out of its
failure/refusal to arbitrate certain grievances. The failure to arbitrate
portion of the NLRB’s Order is not challenged by Aircraft. Therefore,
that portion of the Order will be summarily enforced. See Grondorf,
Field, Black & Co.v.NLRB, 107 F.3d 882, 885 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (Board's
findings that are not challenged on appea are entitled to summary
enforcement).
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same Agreement. Subsequently, Aircraft was severed from
Loral and became an independent corporate entity.

The 1988 collective bargaining agreement covering Loral
and Aircraft employees was to expire by its own terms on
August 10, 1991. In order to enable it to negotiate its own
contract, Aircraft filed a unit clarification petition with the
NLRB. On July 26, 1991, the Board issued an order
determining that the single collective bargaining unit was no
longer appropriatein light of the new organizational structure
of the companies and, accordingly, created separate unitsfor
the Aircraft and Loral employees. Aircraft and Loral
continued to recognize the UAW asthe exclusive bargaining
representative of each unit.  Further, both companies
continued to operate under the 1988 CBA until its expiration
date on August 10, 1991.

Both Loral and Aircraft engaged in contract negotiations
with the union prior to the expiration date but were unableto
reach agreements. On August 10, 1991, Aircraft unilaterally
implemented its final contract offer. Lora continued to
negotiate with the union after the August 10 expiration date,
but the Lora negotiations also reached an impasse and on
October 14, 1991, Loral implemented itsfinal offer.

Asimplemented, Loral’ s final offer contained a provision
toprovidefor “medical benefitsunder the 80/20 Option of the
ComprehensiveMedical plan.” Theagreement also provided
that the “Medical Necessity” plan (the plan provided under
the expired 1988 CBA) would be terminated. The
Comprehensive Medica Plan contained the following
provision:

The Employer reservestheright to amend or modify any
part of this [i.e., the Comprehensive Medical] Plan,
including employee contributions or Drug Copayments,
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documentary evidence shows, in my view, isaset of changes
clearly comprehended within the unilateral change provision
of the 1991 plan.

But if the rationale employed by the Board in this case was
erroneous, as| believeit was, what of the rationale employed
by the ALJ? Notwithstanding the plain language of the
unilateral change provision of the 1991 plan, the ALJ
apparently believed that the National Labor Relations Act
prohibited the employer from making any changesinthe 1991
plan without first bargaining over such changesto the point of
Impasse. This issue has not been briefed or argued here.
Accordingly, although | would not grant enforcement of the
contested portion of the Board’s order at this time, | would
remand the case to let the Board decide, in thefirst instance,
whether the ALJ srationale, or some variant of it, is correct
as amatter of law.

My colleaguesonthepanel having seenthecasedifferently,
| respectfully dissent.
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benefit changes that will become effective on May 1, 1993.”
Cross-examined about his letter, Mr. Searle testified as
follows:

“Q. On June [sic] 29th, 1993, ABS notified the union
that it intended to implement an entirely new health
insurance plan as of May 1, 1993; correct?

A. | amsorry, sir, what was the date?
Q. June — January 29th, 1993.

MS. MAC KENZIE: Excuse me, may | hear that
guestion again, please.

BY MR. BINSTOCK:

Q. OnJanuary 29th, 1993, ABS notified the union
that it intended to implement an entirely new
health insurance plan as of May 1, 19937

A. Thereisaletter dated that date, that is not the
first that they werenotified. But thereisaletter
with that date.

Q. Ididn’'t ask you whether it wasfirst, | just said,
did you notify the union on that date.

A. Thereisaletter on that date that was mailed to
the employees, yes.

Q. And did the letter indicate that there would be
a new plan caled Managed Choices
implemented on May 1, 19937

A. Yes, that letter did indicate that and explained
alittle bit about the plan.”

As far as | can see, this testimony neither adds to nor
detracts from the documentary evidence. And what the
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but will not do so unlessthe Plan islikewiseargended or
modified for non-Bargaining Unit Employees.

Loral’s reservation of the right to amend or modify the
Comprehensive Medical Plan was opposed by the Union.

On April 2, 1992, the Union wrote a letter to Leonard
Laden, Lora’ sPresident, advising himthat the Union “ stands
ready to continue negotiations’ for a mutually acceptable
collective bargaining agreement. Pursuant to that letter, on
July 16, 1992 Lora entered into a Memorandum of
Agreement with the Unioninwhich the parties agreed to meet
for a period of 15 days for “clarification purposes only”
concerning eleven listed subjectswith the understanding that
“[i]f clarification is reached between the Company and the
Union with regard to the eleven items, the implemented
contract shall be supplemented to reflect such clarification
and the Union’s bargaining committee shall unanimously
recommend ratification of such modified agreement to the
members of Local 856 of the Company.” [See JA. p. 173/]
Thelist of itemsto be covered in these discussions included

Changes to Comprehensive Medical during life of
agreement; amount of contributions for comprehensive
medical; contributions by retirees for Comprehensive
Medical; and reimbursement for Medicare.

2Aircraft’sfinal proposal aso contained a provision to replace the
medical coverage with an 85/15 Comprehensive Medical Plan and
prescription drug benefit plan. Aircraft's proposal, like Lord’s, also
contained areservation of rights:

The Company reserves the right to amend or modify the
Comprehensive Medical plan; to revise the employee
contributions; or to revise the co-payments; but will not do so
unless the salaried plan is also revised.
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[See JA. p. 173, Memorandum of Agreement, § 1(A) (11)]3

*The July 16, 1992 Memorandum of Agreement in full reads as
follows:

1. At the request of Donald Hurr, Chairman of the
Union’'s Bargaining Committee, a meeting was held
between Donald Hurr and Greg T. Myer, Manager of
Industrial Relations for the Company, at which time
Mr. Hurr stated that certain issues must be clarified
before the contract implemented by the Company can
be ratified. As a result of that meeting, the parties
agree asfollows:

A. The Union agrees to al of the terms and
conditionsof theimplemented contract imposed by
the Company on October 14, 1991 with the
exception of the following items:

() Funding of the S.U.B. Plan.

(1) ChangestotheComprehensiveMedical duringlife
of Agreement; amount of contributions for
Comprehensive Medical; contributions by retirees
for Comprehensive Medical; and Reimbursement
for Medicare.

(1) Effective date for 401(K).

(V) Effective date of Agreement (i.e.), lump sums, signing
bonus, layoff payment.

(V) 2% vacation.

(V1) Fringe benefits representative.
(V1) Cost of administering pension plan.
(V1) Appendix clarification (3540).

(IX) All current and laid off employeesfifth and six weeks
vacation.

(X) Transition Agreement.
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| confessthat | should find myself hard pressed to explain
to an employee who needed, say, $7,700 worth of health care
and who was content to use network doctors and hospitals
why thevirtual elimination of the deductible and co-payment
features of the “80/20" plan was not “reasonably
comprehended” within the plan’s non-discriminatory
unilateral change provision. | am not sure that such an
employee would be particularly sympathetic to an argument
that he would be better off paying $1,700 ($200 plus 20
percent of $7,500) out of his own pocket rather than paying
only $15 per office visit, notwithstanding the theoretica
possibility that at some point during his lifetime the
employer’s obligation to continue paying his health costs
might bump against the $1 million-per-employee cap
introduced in 1993.

From the employee's standpoint, obviously, the 1993
changesincluded both plusesand minuses. | havereferred to
some of the minuses here, and others are mentioned in the
majority opinion. But thefact that not all of the changeswere
beneficia to the employee hardly means that the pluses and
minuses added up to “an entirely new delivery system” not
comprehended withinaunilateral change provision permitting
non-discriminatory modifications in “any part” of the plan,
“including employee contributions.. . . .”

Nothingin NLRB v. Plainville Ready Mix Concrete Co., 44
F.3d 1320 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 974 (1995),
suggests otherwise. That case did not involve a unilatera
change provision; this case does.

Finally, nothing in the testimony of Human Resources
Director E.L. Searle suggests to me that Mr. Searle viewed
the 1993 changes as falling outside the unilateral change
provision of the 1991 plan. Under cover of a letter dated
January 29, 1993, Searle sent the employees of Aircraft
Braking Systems Corp. a brochure describing ABSC’s new
benefit program. The letter begins with this sentence: “The
attached brochure provides you with an overview of the
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health insurance.” The benefits provided under the 1993
version of the plan were funded by the employer and
administered by Aetna — and so were the benefits provided
under the 1991 version. There was no change in health care
providers, employeeswere | eft free to choose among doctors
and hospitals, just as they had been in 1991, the only change
being that employees were given financial incentives to
choose doctors and hospitalswithin the Aetna® network” and
disincentives to go out-of-network.

It istrue that the name of the plan was changed in 1993. |
takeit, however, that the name is as much a part of the plan
as any other part. Surely a change in name is “reasonably
comprehended” within a provision expressly reserving the
right to amend or modify “any part” of the plan.

Not to have changed the name of the plan might have
suggested that the 1993 version was less advantageous to
employeesthanit really was. Thisisso becausethefull name
given the Loral plan in 1991 — “Lora Comprehensive
Medical Plan (80/20)" — referred to a co-payment feature
under which the employer paid only 80 percent of certain
health costs, and the employee was required to pay the
remaining 20 percent. For employees choosing doctors and
hospitals within the Aetna network, this co-payment feature
was essentially eliminated in 1993.

Before the 1993 changes, the record shows, an unmarried
Loral employee not only had to pay the first $200 in annual
health costs out of his own pocket, he had to pay 20 percent
of al additional costs until the additional costs reached
$7,500. After the 1993 changes, by contrast, an employee
who chose doctors and hospitals outside the Aetna network
would face a $500 deductible and a 30 percent co-payment
obligation. If the employee chose doctors and hospitals
within the Aetna network, however, he got a better deal than
that provided under the old “80/20” plan; under the new plan,
such an employee faced no deductible or co-payment at all,
aside from a charge of $15 per office visit.

Nos. 97-5223/5224 Loral Defense Systems, 7
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Gregory Myer, Lora’ s Director of Human Resources, met
withtheUnioninthesere-opened discussions. At thehearing
beforethe ALJ, Myer testified that the Union “requested that
we consider our position on [reserving the right to make]
changesto comprehensive medical health plan during thelife
of theagreement.” [J.A. p. 137.] When asked what hetold the
Union, Myer stated,

“1 told them that that was something that we were unable
to do, was the reason that we came to loggerheads so
drastically init, during the original negotiations. It[i.e.,
the right to amend or modify the plan] was something
that we needed to keep open to us.”

(X1).  Commercia division.

Discussionsrelating to the above items or non-resolution of any
one or more of the above issues shall not create an arbitrable
controversy: i.e., these discussions shall not be the basis for
arbitration.

B. The Company and the Union agree to meet for a period of
fifteen (15) daysfor clarification purposes only with regard
to the eleven itemslisted in “A” above.

C. If clarification is reached between the Company and the
Union with regard to the eleven items, the implemented
contract shall be supplemented to reflect such clarification
and the Union’s bargaining committee shall unanimously
recommend ratification of such modified Agreement to the
members of Local 856 of the Company.

D. Inevent the eleven items are clarified to the satisfaction of
the parties, the Union agrees to hold aratification meeting
within ten (10) days of the clarification of the issues.

E. This Memorandum of Agreement shall lapse by its terms
fifteen (15) days from the date of execution at which time
if the parties have reached no agreement hereunder, the
parties shall revert to their respective postures as of July 1,
1992.

[JA. pp. 173-74]
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Id. No agreement was ever reached on any of the subjects.

On January 29, 1993, both Loral and Aircraft announced to
the Union that effective May 1, 1993, the health care benefits
plan for union employees would be changed from the
Comprehensive Medical Plan set forth in the jlmplemented
proposals to the Aetha Managed Choices Plan.” Greg Myer
made Lora’s formal announcement in a brief meeting with
the Union bargaining committee members that day. At the
hearing before the ALJ, Union representatives Gregory
Megois and David Terry testified that at that January 29
meeting, Myer told them that the medi cal benefits changewas
“corporate wide” and “ not open for negotiations,” and “there
was nothing anybogjy at thefacility could do” about it. [See
JA. pp. 112, 128.]

Aircraft’s Director of Human Resources, Edward Searle,
first met with members of the Union’s executive bargaining
committee on December 17, 1992 to advise them of the soon-
to-be announced changein medical benefits; hethen met with
Union repregentatives again on December 21 and January 28
or 29, 1993.” Union representatives Gregory Megois, David
Terry and Don Hurr al testified that when Searle met with
them, he told them that the change in health care benefits
“came from headquarters’ [J.A. pp. 45-8], that he was “not

4This same change in health care coverage applied to salaried and
non-Bargaining Unit Employees of the companies.

°In histesti mony before the ALJ, although he admitted that he may
have told the Union that the medical benefits change was a “ corporate-
wide” plan, Myer denied saying that the medical benefits change was not
open to negotiation. [J.A. pp. 142-44.] Notwithstanding Myer’s denial,
the ALJ credited the Union witnesses’ testimony regarding what Myer
told them on January 29th. [See JA. p. 5.]

®searle first testified that the January meeting was on the 20th [JA.
p. 35], then later said there was no meeting on the 29th [J.A. pp. 94-5].
However, Aircraft admits that Searle met with the Union leadership on
January 28th.

Nos. 97-5223/5224 Loral Defense Systems, 29
etal. v. NLRB

DISSENT

DAVID A. NELSON, Circuit Judge, dissenting. The
medical plan that was implemented in 1991 expressly
permitted the employer to make future unilatera
modificationsin any part of the plan — changing “employee
contributions,” e.g. — aslong as the modifications applied to
union and non-union employees alike. The administrative
law judge would have held it impermissible, under the
National Labor Relations Act, to reserve the right to change
the plan unilaterally. The Nationa Labor Relations Board
declined to reach that issue; acknowledging the reservation of
aunilateral right to amend or modify the 1991 plan on anon-
discriminatory basis, the Board concluded that the
unilaterally-implemented 1993 plan, although applicable to
union and non-union employees alike, was “not merely an
amendment or modification of an existing plan, but rather
constituted a replacement of the plan with an entirely new
delivery system for health insurance.” As a replacement
rather than an amendment, the Board held, the 1993 plan did
not constitute a change “reasonably comprehended” within
the unilateral change provision of the 1991 plan.

My colleagues on the panel agree with the Board. | do not.
The 1993 plan, as | read it, did not replace the 1991 scheme
with “an entirely new delivery system for health insurance.”
And | believe that the 1993 changes — some of which
workedtotheemployees advantage, asthe union presumably
recognized when, in subsequent bargaining, it accepted the
1993 plan — were reasonably comprehended within the 1991
provision that permitted non-discriminatory changesin “any
part” of the plan.

| can find no support in the record for the proposition that
the 1993 planintroduced “an entirely new delivery systemfor
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practice of modifying its orders in subsequent compliance proceedings);
NLRB v. Deena Artware, Inc., 361 U.S. 398, 412 (1960); NLRBv. KatZ' s
Delicatessen of Houston Street, Inc., supra, 80 F.3d at 770-771.
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[t]hereto negotiate” with them, [J.A. pp. 46, 68, 75]7 and that
he had “no control over the situation.” [J.A. p. 75.]

The Union protested the companies’ announcement of thg
unilateral change in health care plans. [J.A. pp. 68, 169.]
Notwithstanding the Union’s protest, on May 1, 1993, Loral
and Aircraft implemented the change from Comprehensive
Medical to Managed Choices. On June 7, 1993, the Union
filed unfair labor practice charges against the companies.
[JA. pp. 171, 299.]

"The ALJ credited the Union witnesses’ test mony regarding what
Searle told them when he met with them [see J.A. p. 5] despite the fact
that Searle, like Gregory Myer, hiscounterpart at Loral, denied saying that
the implementation of the new health benefits plan was not negotiable
[J.A. p. 95]. However, asthe ALJnoted, Searle did testify that hetold the
Union that “the structure of the plan was not subject to change,” that the
company “had theright to revise modify or terminate,” and in accordance
with that right, was “going to make revisions to the medica benefits
plan.” [J.A. p. 37].

8Sub%quent to the announcements of the companies’ decisions to
change from the Comprehensive Medical Plan to Managed Choices,
company representatives met with union representatives regarding the
terms of the Managed Choices plan. Union officialswere given booklets
outlining the benefits. One of the benefits listed in the booklets was
dental coverage. (Dental coverage, including oral surgery, had been apart
of Aircraft’sComprehensiveMedical plan.) However, Aircraft and Loral
officials informed the Union that the companies would not be offering
dental benefitsto their union employees. [J.A. pp. 90-91; 158.] TheUnion
asked whether the companies could reconsider that issue. Id. Both
Aircraft and Loral complied with the Union’ srequest. [J.A. pp. 90, 162.]
Ultimately, Aircraft decided to add dental coverage (but not oral surgery)
toitsplan[J.A. p. 90]. However, because of the Union’ sdispleasurewith
the amount that Loral wanted to charge its employees for that added
benefit, dental coveragewasnotimplemented by Loral. [J.A. pp. 162-64.]
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A. A COMPARISON OF THE HEALTH CARE PLANS

Based upon

thetestimony and exhibitsintheadministrative
proceedings” of this matter, the following charts show the
differencesbetweentheAircraft’ sand Lora’ sComprehensive
Medical Plan and the Managed Choices Plan:

L ORAL
- MANAGED MANAGED
TERMS CH:CE)RI/ISFI)\R/E CHOICES CHOICES
IN OUT OF
MEDICAL [ NETWORK | NETWORK
qoceer [any s [any
(PATIENT’S (PATIENT’S
HOSPITALS | tHoicE) NETWORK: | CHOICE)
SPECIALISTS
ONLY AS
REFERRED
BY PRIMARY
IN-NETWORK
PHY SICIAN
DEDUCT- | $200 PER NONE (PAY | $500 PER
IBLE PERSON: ONLY $15 | PERSON:
$600 FOR | PER $1500 FOR
FAMILY OFFICE FAMILY
OF30R | VISIT) OF 30R
MORE MORE
co- SEEFJ%FE:HBLE NONE (PAY SEEFJ%FE:HBLE
PAYMENT |S SATISFIED: (F?é\g_Y $15 |S SATISFIED:
20%UPTO | 228 30%
CO-PAY
MAXIMUM | VISIT)

9See JA. pp. 33-39; 116-117; 199-244; 419-435.
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companies versions of that Plan as one and the same.
However, the Court does not find these misstatements of fact
to be material inasmuch as they do not affect the Board's
conclusion that the new Managed Choices Plan was
substantially different from the replaced Comprehensive
Medical Plan, and as indicated above, there is substantial
evidence in the record to support that conclusion.

[11. CONCLUSON

For all of the reasons stated above, Loral’s and Aircraft’s
petition to review and overrule the NLRB’s Decision and
Order is DENIED and the Board's 02ross-petition for
enforcement of that Order is GRANTED.?

12Loral has indicated that subsequent to the administrative
proceedings giving rise to this appeal, on December 11, 1996, Lora and
the Union agreed to acoll ective bargai ning agreement whichincorporates
the Managed Choices Plan. This, Loral contends, renders the Board's
Order moot. We, however, do not find the Board's Order to be moot.
The Board's Order provides, in relevant part:

If the Union requests, [Respondent shall] rescind the Aetha
Managed Choices health insurance plan. . . and reinstate the
Comprehensive Medical Plan as to bargaining unit employees
and make such employeeswholefor any losses they may have
suffered as a result of the plan change. . . .

At least to the extent that employees suffered losses as a result of
company’ s unilateral implementation of the new plan from May 1, 1993
(the date of implementation of Managed Choices) through December 11,
1996, the effective date of the new CBA, at least the make-whole portion
of enforcement Order is certainly not moot. As for the rescission and
reinstatement provisions, the Order does not mandate such rescission and
reinstatement; rather that portion of the order will take effect only if the
Union so requests. Presumably, having entered into anew Agreement in
which it has agreed to the Managed Choices Plan, the Union will not
request rescission of that plan.

In any event, as the Board has pointed out, such matters are best
reserved for determinationin separate compliance proceedings. See, Sure
Tan, Inc. v. NLRB, 467 U.S. 883, 901-902 (1984) (approving Board's
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credibility andthe ALJ, therefore, should havediscredited his
testimony.

However, asthe First Circuit stated initsrecent decisionin
NLRB v. Beverly Enter prises-Massachusetts, 174 F.3d 13 (1st
Cir. 1999), thetact that the ALJ sopinionfailed to discussall
of thetestimony and evidence presented to him doesnot mean
that the ALJ“failed to consider” theevidence. Id. at 26. The
Beverly court explained:

An ALJ can consider all the evidence without directly
addressingin hiswritten decision every pieceof evidence
submitted by a party. Nor must an ALJ make “explicit
credibility findings’ as to each bit of conflicting
testimony, so long as his factual findings as a whole
show that he “implicitly resolve[d]” such conflicts.

Id. (Citations omitted). See also, NLRB v. KatZ's
Delicatessen of Houston ., Inc., 80 F.3d 755, 765 (2d Cir.
1996) (An ALJ may resolve credibility disputes implicitly
rather than explicitly where his “treatment of the evidenceis
supported by the record as awhole.”)

Although the ALJ's decision in this case may not be a
model of clarity and detail, as was the case in Beverly and in
KatZ s Delicatessen, the ALJ s treatment of the evidence in
tth Icase is more than amply supported by the record as a
whole.

The companies further argue that the Board's decision
should be overruled because the ALJ “lumped together” his
findings concerning Aircraft and Loral, and in so doing,
misstated some facts. The ALJs decision does, in fact,
contain some misstatements of fact. For example, the ALJ
failed to note the specific dates in December 1992 and
January 1993 on which the respective companies
representatives met with the Union to announce their
intention to implement Managed Choices. He also failed to
note the differences between Aircraft’'s and Loral’ s versions
of the Comprehensive Medica Plan, treating the two
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evidencewhich satisfiesthe court that therequisitefact exists,
but merely the degree that could satisfy a reasonable fact
finder.” Allentown Mack Sales& Serv., Inc. v. NLRB, supra,
118 S.Ct. at 828.

Further, nothing in the record even remotely suggests that
after January 29, 1993 either company ever considered
atering its stance with regard to implementing the change to
Managed Choices. The best that can be said of the February-
March 1993 dental coverage discussionswasthat they reflect
an attempt by Aircraft and Loral to make acceptance of the
Ptlaw Managed Choices plan more palatable to the rank and

ile.

Therefore, the Court finds no error in the ALJS
determination that discussions with the Union leading to an
agreement to amend coverage under Managed Choices after
the unilateral decision to implement the new plan was made
does not amount to bargai ning on the decision to changefrom
Comprehensive Medical to Managed Choices.

Loral and Aircraft al'so arguethat the Court should overturn
the Board’ sdecision becauseit relied uponthe ALJ sfindings
of facts, and the ALJ failed to address in his decision the
evidence the companies presented which they contend
contradict hisfindings. Specifically, they point tothe ALJ's
failure to acknowledge that Gregory Myer denied telling the
Union representatives that implementation of Managed
Choices was not negotiable and, instead, credited the Union
witnesses' testimony that he told them the matter was not
open to negotiation. The companies further argue that the
ALJ blanketly credited the Union witnesses testimony,
failing to mention that one of the witnesses, Gregory Megois,
was the Union secretary, and as such, was responsible for
taking notes at Union meetings. However, Megois could not
produceinthe administrative proceedings beforethe ALJany
notes from any of the meetings with either Aircraft or Lora
concerning implementation of the Managed Choices plan.
According to the companies, thisindicates that Megois lacks
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The companiesfurther arguethat thefact they bargained on
the Managed Choices Plan is evident from the fact that, after
they announced their intent to implement the new plan on
May 1, 1993 but beforethat date, they entertained the Union’s
request that they consider adding dental coverage to the Plan
and, with respect to Aircraft did, in fact, amend the Plan to
include dental coverage. However, asthe ALJ found,

That the Union requested and the [companies| agreed to
inclusion of dental coverage does not alter th[e]
conclusion [that the companiesunilaterally implemented
the changein insurance plans.] The[companies] decided
to change the insurance coverage and presented thisasa
completed thing to the Union; thus, asubsequent change
in a detail based on the Union’s request did not make
initial implementation lawful.  Further, whatever
negotiations the parties had after January 29 about a
particular coverage under Managed Choices, there could
have been no altering the decision to change plans.

[JA.p. 6]

The ALJs determination is supported by substantial
evidenceintherecord. Asindicated above, the ALJcredited
the testimony of a number of Union witnesses who testified
that both Loral’ sand Aircraft’s Human Resources Directors,
Edward Searle and Gregory Myer, told them in January 1993
that the decision to change from Comprehensive Medical to
Managed Choiceswas effectively a“donedeal” and not open
to negotiation. Although the companies argue that the ALJ
ignored their witnesses' testimony that they did not tell Union
bargaining committee members that the matter was not
negotiable, which witnesses' testimony isto be credited isa
matter left to the finder of fact. The mere possibility of
drawing two inconsistent conclusionsfromtheevidenceisnot
tantamount to a determination that the ALJ s finding is not
supported by substantial evidence. American Textile Mfrs.
Inst. v. Donovan, supra, 452 U.S. at 523. Asindicated above,
the substantial evidence test “requires not the degree of
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B. THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS

In the administrative proceedings before both the ALJ and the
NLRB, Loral and Aircraft argued that they were entitled to
unilaterally change health care providers by the language in their
implemented 1991 final offers reserving to them “the right to
amend or modify” any part of the Comprehensive Medical Plan.
Both the ALJ and the Board found no merit in that argument and
determined that by unilaterally changing health ge plans, Loral
and Aircraft violated Section 8(a)(5) of the Act.

While the Board acknowledged that upon reaching an
impassein negotiations, an employer may implement changes
in its last offer so long as the change is “reasonably
comprehended” within the final pre-impasse offer, it found
that in this case, Lord’s and Aircraft’'s change from the
Comprehensive Medical Plan to the AethaManaged Choices
Plan was not “ reasonably comprehended” within the original
health care proposal s rejected by the Union and implemented
by the employers. While the Board agreed that the
implemented changes reserved to Loral and Aircraft the
discretion to “amend” or “modify” the Comprehensive
Medical Plan, it determined that the AetnaManaged Choices
Plan “was not merely an amendment or modification of an
existing plan, but rather constituted a replacement of the
plan with an entirely new delivery system for health
insurance.” The Board found that “[t]his new plan was
substantially different fromthe ComprehensiveMedical Plan;
it eliminated the option of selecting a health maintenance
organization (HMO), the employees choice of doctors and
the $1500 out-of-pocket maximum on costs. It also imposed
a$1 million lifetime limit on benefits.” Further, the Board
observed that with respect to Aircraft’ s substituted plan, ora
surgery benefits were eliminated.

10The ALJ s conclusion, however, was based upon his rejection of
the employers’ “waiver” rationale. While the Board agreed with and
affirmedthe ALJ sfindingthat by unilaterally changing health care plans,
Loral and Aircraft violated Section 8(a)(5), it found it unnecessary torely
on his“waiver” argument.
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for aperiod of 15 days only for “clarification purposes only”
concerning eleven listed subjects, with the understanding that
“[i]f clarification is reached between the Company and the
Union with regard to the eleven items, the implemented
contract shall be supplemented to reflect such clarification
and the Union’s bargaining committee shall unanimously
recommend ratification of such modified agreement to the
members of Local 856 of the Company.” [See JA. p. 173]

Admittedly, the list of items to be covered in these
discussions included “Changes to Comprehensive Medical
during life of agreement; amount of contributions for
comprehensive medical; contributions by retirees for
Comprehensive Medical; and reimbursement for Medicare.”
[See JA. p. 173, Memorandum of Agreement, § 1(A) (11).]
However, just asthe Court in Grondorf found with respect to
the companies final offer concerning limiting contributions
to the then existing employee benefits, nothing in this
Memorandum of Agreement supportsLoral’ s contention that
bargaining was had on the substitution of the Managed
Choices Plan for the Comprehensive Medica Plan.
Furthermore, Greg Myer, Loral’s Director of Human
Resources, upon whose testimony Loral also relies, testified
beforethe ALJthat the Union *“ requested that we consider our
position on changes to comprehensive medical health plan
during the life of the agreement.” [J.A. p. 137.] When asked
what he told the Union, Myer stated,

“1 told them that that was something that we were unable
to do, was the reason that we came to loggerheads so
drastically init, during the original negotiations. It [i.e.,
the right to amend or modify the plan] was something
that we needed to keep open to us.”

Id. Again, nothing in Myer’s testimony supports Loral’s
contention that the company and the Union bargained to
impasse on the Managed Choices Plan.
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by the employers was a proposal to limit the companies
contributions to the existing benefit plans. The court
determined that having “failed to afford the union a genuine
opportunity to bargain over the[] proposal to switch benefit
plans, the Companies were not free to implement the
substitution of planson their own.” 1d. at 885-86. The court
explained:

Accordingto thetestimony credited by the AL J, although
company executives discussed the merits of employer-
sponsored plans at the negotiations, the companies
neither submitted a concrete proposal to switch
employees out of the union plans nor provided
documentation or other details about the companies
benefits packages. The only subject of bargaining was
the companies proposal to limit contributions to the
union plans, a proposal reiterated in the companies
final offer and ultimately rejected by theunion. Having
failed to afford the union a genuine opportunity to
bargain over their proposal to switch benefit plans, the
companieswere not freeto implement the substitution of
plans on their own.

107 F.3d at 886 (emphasis added).

The foregoing facts and authorities demonstrate that the
Board did not err in finding that the unilaterally implemented
Managed Choices hedth plan was not “reasonably
comprehended” within Loral’s and Aircraft’s pre-impasse
proposal. This finding is amply supported by substantial
evidence in the record. Therefore, the Board correctly
determined that the companiesviolated section 8(a)(5) by not
affording the union the opportunity to bargain with them
concerning this new plan.

Loral argues that it did bargain with the union to impasse
on the change to the Managed Choices plan and in support of
this contention, points to the July 1992 Memorandum of
Agreement in which the Loral and the Union agreed to meet
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Therefore, the Board concluded that Loral and Aircraft
were obligated to bargain with the Union prior to changing
the health care plans. Having implemented the Aetna
Managed Choices Plan without bargaining with the Union
over that plan change, the companies were found to be guilty
of violating Section 8(a)(5). Therefore, the Board ordered the
companies to “rescind the Aetna Managed Choices health
insurance plan made effective May 1, 1993, and reinstate the
Comprehensive Medical Plan asto bargaining unit employees
and make such employeeswhol efor any lossesthey may have
suffered as aresult of the plan change.”

Lora and Aircraft now asigl this Court to review and
overturn the Board' s decision.” The NLRB asks the Court
to enter an Order of Enforcement.

[1. DISCUSS ON
A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in determining whether an
employer’s post-impasse change in terms or conditions of
employment is “reasonably comprehended” within its final
pre-impasse offer isamixed question of fact andlaw. NLRB
v. Plainville Ready Mix Concrete, 44 F.3d 1320, 1326 (6th
Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 986 (1995). The Board' sfactual
findings must be upheld if supported by substantial evidence
ontherecord asawhole. Id., citing Universal Camera Corp.
v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 487-88, 71 S.Ct. 456 (1951). The
Board’ sconclusionsof law must be affirmed if they are based

11Ironically, on December 11, 1996, Loral and the Union agreed to
a new collective bargaining agreement to be effective until August 11,
2001. The negotiated agreement is currently in effect. Under this
agreement the health care plan continues to be the Managed Choices Plan
atissueinthisappeal. [SeeLoral Fina Brief, Ex. B.] The new agreement
further provides that “the Company shall retain the right to change
medical benefit administrators, carriers, insurers, and providers, however,
the Company will not change the level of benefits that are now being
provided.” Id. 8.
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upon a reasonable defensible construction of the Act.
Plainville Ready Mix, supra, citing Ford Motor Co. v. NLRB,
441 U.S. 488, 489 (1979). Finaly, asthe Court observed in
Plainville Ready Mix, “the facts and complexities of the
bargaining processare particul arly amenabl eto the expertise
of the Board as factfinder,” and ‘few issues are less suited to
appellate judicia appraisa than evaluation of bargaining
processes or better suited to the expert experience of aBoard
[that] deal s constantly with such problems.”” 44 F.3d at 1325,
guoting Bolton-Emerson, Inc. v. NLRB, 899 F.2d 104, 108
(1st Cir. 1990).

With respect to the substantial evidence standard, the
Universal Camera Court explained that “substantial
evidence” means “such relevant evidence as a reasonable
mind might accept as adequate to support aconclusion.” 340
U.S. at 477 (internal quotation marks omitted), quoted in
American Textile Mfrs. Inst. v. Donovan, 452 U.S. 490, 522,
101 S.Ct. 2478 (1981) (“ATMI"). The reviewing court must
consider “therecord in its entirety. . . , including the body of
evidence opposed to the Board' sview.” |d. at 487-88. But,
“thepossibility of drawing two inconsi stent conclusionsfrom
the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency’'s
finding from being supported by substantial evidence.”
ATMI, 452 U.S. at 523 (internal quotation marks omitted).

More recently, in Allentown Mack Sales & Serv., Inc. v.
NLRB, 522 U.S. 359, 118 S.Ct. 818 (1998), the court equated
thesubstantial evidence standard with “whether onthisrecord
it would have been possiblefor areasonablejury to reach the
[agency’s] conclusion.” The “substantial evidence” test
*gives the agency the benefit of the doubt, since it requires
not the degree of evidence which satisfies the court that the
requisite fact exists, but merely the degree that could satisfy
areasonable factfinder.” 1d., 118 S.Ct. at 828. The agency’s
findings, thus, will be set aside only “when the record before
a Court of Appeals clearly precludes the Board’s decision
from being justified by a fair estimate of the worth of the
testimony of witnesses or its informed judgment on matters
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Finally, however, the change with the most substantial
impact for employees of both companies, regardiess of
whether they chose “in network” or * out-of-network” health
care, is that the personal exposure for out-of-pocket costsis
dramatically increased in the Managed Choices plan:

* theManaged ChoicesPlan substantially increasesthecap
on employees’ out-of-pocket costs from $1500 to $3500
per person/$10,500 per family for out-of-network, with
no Iimilz whatsoever on out-of-pocket exposure within
network.

* Further, the Managed Choices plan imposed a lifetime
limit on benefits, whereas under the prior plan there was
no limit at all.

It was precisely because of similar substantial differences
between the pre-impasse health care proposal and the
proposal implemented by the employer in Plainville Ready
Mix that the Sixth Circuit found aviolation of section 8(a)(5).
In Plainville, the employer’ s pre-impasse proposal called for
anincreasein health careinsurance deductibles, employee co-
payments, and premiums and also called for adding a number
of new benefits, including prescription drug coverage, vision
careand an emergency careplan. Post-impasse, the employer
fragmented its pre-impasse proposal and implemented the
increases in deductibles, employee co-payments and
premiums, but did not implement any of the beneficia
elements of the proposal. 44 F.3d at 1334. Because the
unilaterally- implemented fragmented changes in the health
careplanweresubstantially different fromtheemployer’ slast
pre-impasse proposal, the court determined that the empl oyer
violated Section 8(a)(5).

This case also presents facts substantially similar to
Grondorf, Field, Black & Co. v. NLRB, 107 F.3d 882 (D.C.
Cir. 1997). In that case, during negotiations the employers
did not propose substituting new benefit plans for the plans
set forth intheir final contract offer. The only proposal made
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from what the employer proposed in its last pre-impasse
proposal constitutes a violation of Section 8(a)(5).

Turning then to the instant action, there is substantial
evidence in the record supporting the Board' sfactual finding
that the Aetna Managed Choices Plan unilaterally
implemented by Loral and Aircraft was substantially different
from the pre-impasse Comprehensive Medical Plan proposal.

While the Board acknowledged, as does this Court, that in
their last pre-impasse proposal, Aircraft and Loral reservedto
their discretion the right to “amend” or “modify” the
ComprehensiveMedical Plan, morethan substantial evidence
in the record supports the Board’ s conclusion that the Aetna
Managed Choices Plan congtituted a replacement or
substitution plan, not an amendment or modification of the
Comprehensive Plan.

First of al, Edward Searle, Aircraft’s Human Resources
Director testified before the ALJ that Managed Choicesisan
entirely new plan. [See JA. p. 35] More importantly, an
examination of the plan descriptions and comparisons which
were part of therecord in the administrative proceedings [see
J.A. pp. 190-192; 199-245; 247-297; 419-436] demonstrates
that Managed Choices is substantidly different from the
Comprehensive Plan in a number of important elements.
First, for Aircraft employees, Managed Choices:

* did away with ora surgery benefits and
* eliminated the option of selecting an HMO.

For both Aircraft and Loral employees, inorder toretainthe
unfettered right to go to any doctor, the new Plan

* increased the deductible employeeswere required to pay
and

* increased their required medical treatment and
prescription drug co-payments.
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within its special competence or both.” Universal Camera,
340 U.S. at 490. In other words, it is only when a court
“cannot conscientiously find that the evidencesupporting [the
Board' s] decision is substantial, when viewed in thelight the
recordinitsentirety furnishes, including the body of evidence
opposed to the Board’sview.” Id. at 488.

B. THE UNILATERAL CHANGES IN MEDICAL
COVERAGE WERE NOT “REASONABLY
COMPREHENDED” WITHIN LORAL'S AND
AIRCRAFT' SFINAL PRE-IMPASSE OFFERS

The controlling law in this Circuit on the issue of post-
impasse changes in terms or conditions of employment is
NLRB v. Plainville Ready Mix Concrete Company, 44 F.3d
1320 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 985 (1995).

In Plainville Ready Mix, the NLRB found that the company
violated section 8(a)(5) of the NLRA, by implementing only
portions of the wage and hedth plans presented in the
company’ sfinal pre-impasse offer. Specifically, althoughthe
company retai ned the pre-impasse proposed fixed hourly rate,
it did not implement three $.25 per hour wage increases, two
incentive pay plans, an offer to pay for six holidays or
improvementsin the company’ s health plan which were also
contained in the last pre-impasse proposal. The Board,
therefore, ordered the company to rescind its unlawful
implementations, and to reinstate both the wage plan that
existed prior to bargai ning impasse (whichincluded the $9.50
per hour fixed wage rate plusincentive and gain sharing) and
the health plan as it existed prior to impasse.

The Board subsequently petitioned the Sixth Circuit for
enforcement of its Order and the Sixth Circuit granted that
petition. In so doing, the Court took great painsto set out in
detail the applicable law.

First, the Court examined the applicable statutory
provisions and the policy underlying those provisions:
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Section 8(a)(5) of the Act makes it an unfair labor
practicefor anemployer “to refuseto bargain collectively

The Court then explained the * reasonably comprehended”
exception to the mandatory collectivebargai ning requirement:

with the representatives of hisemployees. .. .” Section
8(d) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 158(d), establishes “the
obligation of the employer and the representative to
bargain with each other in good faith with respect to
‘wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of
employment. . . ."” Fiberboard Paper Prods. Corp. v.
NLRB, 370 U.S. 203, 210, 85 S.Ct. 398, 402, 13 L.Ed.2d
233 (1964). Thus, unilateral action with respect to any
mandatory subject of bargaining is prohibited “for itisa
circumvention of the duty to negotiate which frustrates
the objective of section 8(a)(5) much as does a flat
refusal [to bargain].” NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 743,
82 S.Ct. 1107, 1111, 8 L.Ed.2d 230 (1962); Accord
NLRB v. Allied Prods. Cor., 548 F.2d 644, 652 (6th Cir.
1977). Notice and an opportunity to bargain about
proposed changes are essential to the collective
bargaining process. If an employer changes wages or
other terms without affording the Union an opportunity
for adequate consultation, it “ minimizestheinfluence of
organized bargaining” and emphasizesto the empl oyees
“that there is no necessity for a collective bargaining
agent.” May Dep’t Sores Co. v. NLRB, 326 U.S. 376,
385, 66 S.Ct. 203, 209, 90 L.Ed. 145 (1945); Accord,
NLRB v. J.H. Allison & Co., 165 F.2d 766, 990 (6th
Cir.), cert. denied, 335 U.S. 814, 69 S.Ct. 31, 93. L.Ed.
369 (1948).

For these reasons, during bargaining negotiations, an
employer violates section 8(a)(5) of the Act if it
unilaterally institutes changes in existing terms or
conditionsof employment prior to bargainingtoimpasse.
United Paperworks Int’l| Union v. NLRB, 981 F.2d 861,

After the parties have bargained to impasse, that is,
after good-faith negotiations have exhausted the
prospectsof concluding an agreement, an employer does
not violatethe Act by making unilater al changesthat
are “reasonably comprehended within his pre-
impasse proposals,” United Paperworkers, 981 F.2d at
866, and ar e consistent with the offersthe Union has
regected. Southwest Forest Indus., Inc. v. NLRB, 841
F.2d 270, 273 (9th Cir. 1988). Although an employer’s
power to change working conditions is not contingent
upon Union agreement with the proposed changes, notice
and opportunity to consult Is required before
implementing changes in order to give the Union a
reasonable opportunity to offer counter arguments and
proposals. A.H. Belo Corp. v. NLRB, 411 F.2d 959, 971
(5th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1007, 90 S.Ct.
561, 24 L.Ed.2d 498 (1970). Therefore, the employer
may not implement changes*“ which aresubstantially
different from. . . any which the employer has
proposed during its negotiations. . . .” NLRB v.
Crompton-Highland Mills, Inc., 337 U.S. 217, 115, 69
S.Ct. 960, 964, 93 L.Ed. 1320 (1949). As the Fifth
Circuit has stated, “implementing changes significantly
different from those proposed to and rejected by the
collective bargaining representative is tantamount to
implementing changeswithout notifying the Union of the
proposed changes.” Winn-Dixie Sores, Inc. v. NLRB,
567 F.2d 1343, 1350 (5th Cir.), modified on other
grounds, 575 F.2d 1107 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 439 U.S.
985, 100 S.Ct. 576, 58 L.Ed.2d 656 (1978).

866 (6th Cir. 1992); Peabody Coal Co. v. NLRB, 725 44 F.3d at 1326 (emphasis added).

F.2d 357, 365 (6th Cir. 1984). . . ,
Plainville Ready Mix makes clear that unilatera
44 F.3d at 1325-26. implementation of changes which are substantially different



